
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

BARRY MITNICK, ) Civil Action No.
)

Plaintiff, )
)

vs. )
)

THE UNIVERSITY OF PITTSBURGH– )
OF THE COMMONWEALTH SYSTEM )
OF HIGHER EDUCATION, ) FILED ELECTRONICALLY

)
Defendant. ) JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

COMPLAINT IN CIVIL ACTION

AND NOW comes Plaintiff, Barry Mitnick (“Dr. Mitnick”), by and through undersigned

counsel, and files this Complaint in Civil Action raising claims under the Age Discrimination in

Employment Act, 29 U.S.C. § 621 et seq., Title VII, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e et seq., the Americans with

Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. § 12101 et seq., the Equal Pay Act, 29 U.S.C. § 206(d), Title IX, 20

U.S.C. § 1681 et seq., the Pennsylvania Wage Payment and Collection Law, 43 P.S. § 260.1 et seq.,

the Pennsylvania Whistleblower Law, 43 P.S. § 1421 et seq., and breach of contract, stating as

follows:

I.  PARTIES

1. Dr. Mitnick is an adult individual residing in Allegheny County, Pennsylvania.

2. The University of Pittsburgh–of the Commonwealth System of Higher Education

(“Pitt” or “the University”) is a state-related institution of post-secondary education that maintains

a place of business at 4200 Forbes Avenue, Pittsburgh, PA 15260.

II.  JURISDICTION

3. The jurisdiction of the Court over matters in this Complaint is founded upon 28

Case 2:18-cv-01186-JFC   Document 1   Filed 09/06/18   Page 1 of 45



U.S.C. § 1331, 28 U.S.C. § 1367(a), and 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-5(f)(3).

III.  VENUE

4. The facts related in this Complaint occurred in Allegheny County, Pennsylvania, in

the Western District of Pennsylvania; therefore, venue is appropriate in this Court.

IV.  ADMINISTRATIVE EXHAUSTION

5. In March 2018, Dr. Mitnick filed an administrative charge, docketed at 533-2018-

00993, with the U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (“EEOC”); this charge was cross-

filed with the Pennsylvania Human Relations Commission (“PHRC”).

6. The aforementioned charge named the “University of Pittsburgh Katz Graduate

School of Business,” which is a unit of the University, as the respondent and stated claims for sex,

age, and association discrimination in addition to retaliation.

7. On June 8, 2018, the EEOC issued a “right to sue” notice with respect to the

aforementioned charge, thereby giving Dr. Mitnick the right to bring his federal claims in court.

8. Dr. Mitnick will seek leave to file an amended complaint to include claims under the

Pennsylvania Human Relations Act, 43 P.S. 951 et seq., when those claims are administratively

exhausted.

V.  FACTS

9. Dr. Mitnick is currently a member of the faculty at the Katz Graduate School of

Business (“Katz,” “the Katz School,” or “the School”), which is a component of the University.

10. Dr. Mitnick, who was born in 1947, is a male individual over forty years of age.

11. Dr. Mitnick was initially hired by Katz in 1978 and has a long and distinguished

record of publication in his field, business ethics/business and society.
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12. Dr. Mitnick has published over 100 books, articles, papers in proceedings, reviews,

and other publications.

13. While at the Katz School, Dr. Mitnick has published two books, several monographs,

and many articles in leading refereed journals and other publications in his field.

14. Dr. Mitnick won the Sumner Marcus Award, the highest career award in his field, as

well as the Best Article Award of the International Association for Business and Society, the highest

annual research award in his field.

15. Dr. Mitnick is recognized as a founder of agency theory (1973), which examines the

relationship between principals and agents in business and in society in general.

16. Dr. Mitnick has headed the Social Issues in Management Division of the Academy

of Management, the largest and most prestigious academic association in his field in the world, and

was a finalist for the Faculty Pioneer Award of the Aspen Institute, a top international teaching

award.

17. Dr. Mitnick’s academic research on regulation, including his book on regulation, has

been recognized as leading work in this area, and his work on agency theory has been incorporated

into the curricula at the Katz School and throughout many fields of social science.

18. Dr. Mitnick’s work has been translated into Spanish and has been studied in business

schools and relevant departments throughout Latin America.

19. Per his original letter of contract (1978) (attached to this Complaint as “Exhibit A”),

Dr. Mitnick was hired to teach courses on business and society/environmental influences on

business, to do scholarly research, and to publish that research in “well-regarded refereed research

journals, books, and monographs.”
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20. On Nov. 30, 1993, former Katz Dean H. J. Zoffer (“Dean Zoffer”) wrote to Dr.

Mitnick regarding the reduction of his teaching load by three credits, stating that “[w]e do understand

the nature of your research as being reflected in book length manuscripts and hope that the

environment will now be even more supportive of your efforts.”

21. The aforementioned letter of contract indicated that Dr. Mitnick “would be expected

to teach approximately two courses per term.” 

22. The core and elective courses referred to in the letter were then three credits each, so

this expectation was equivalent to eighteen credits per year.

23. The aforementioned expectation corresponded to two three-credit courses per

academic term (at the time the Katz School operated on a calendar consisting of three academic

terms per year); however this letter does not state Dr. Mitnick’s teaching load as a specific number

of credits. 

24. Pursuant to the aforementioned contract letter, Dr. Mitnick’s load would fall to twelve

credits when the calendar changed from three to two terms, if courses remained at three credits, and

potentially to a different number of credits if the credits per course changed. 

25. After Dr. Mitnick arrived at the University, Katz School administrators told him

repeatedly that he was expected to publish in journals, books, and monographs relevant to his new

field, business and society, and not primarily in his previous field, public administration and political

science, although publication in those areas could continue.

26. The Katz School administration later required Dr. Mitnick to publish in journals that

were not specifically in his field because the School’s reward system was tied to publication in

journals on the School’s “A-Journal List,” which includes no journals in Dr. Mitnick’s field and does
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not reward books or monographs.

27. Inclusion of journals on the aforementioned “A-Journal List” is controlled by the

Dean and is arbitrary.

28. While Dr. Mitnick would author multiple published and in-process academic books,

the Katz School administration would only credit him with publishing his first book and did not

credit him with his subsequent book nor fully support his research on additional books.

29. The importance of his academic work notwithstanding, Dr. Mitnick’s research output

has been characterized unfairly as “modest,” and he has rarely qualified for the full teaching

reduction and full summer research support normally granted to highly productive faculty.

30. Despite publishing three articles and editing a symposium in a single academic year

in the top journal in his field, Dr. Mitnick was denied the research award and teaching reduction

potentially available to all other faculty in the Katz School because they do have journals in their

fields on the “A-Journal List.”

31. Even though his research has bolstered the international reputation of the Katz

School, Dr. Mitnick is the only research-oriented faculty member at the School who has been denied

graduate research assistants (“GSAs”), significantly impeding his research, and the only such faculty

member without a journal in his field on Katz’s “A-Journal List.”

32. Successive deans have refused to add the three top journals in Dr. Mitnick’s field to

the “A-Journal List” despite their recognition throughout the field itself as the top journals; however,

when a female faculty member recently joined the Katz School in entrepreneurship, an additional

journal from her field was added to the “A-Journal List.”

33. When another female faculty member joined the Katz School years ago from the
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Psychology Department, the Katz School added her psychology journals and kept them on the

“A-Journal List,” despite the fact that few or no other faculty in the School were publishing in those

journals.

34. Katz School administrators have expanded the scope of the “A-Journal List” at the

behest of other female faculty.

35. Despite the importance of his work, Dr. Mitnick’s salary has remained significantly

below the median faculty salary at the Katz School, the median faculty salary for the University as

a whole, and the median faculty salary in his field for faculty at comparable institutions.

36. The Katz School administration has failed to compensate Dr. Mitnick at a level

commensurate with his work productivity.

37. Dr. Mitnick is one of the oldest faculty members at the Katz School, and there is a

long term pattern at Katz of paying older faculty at lower rates.

38. For example, when the Katz School transitioned older faculty members from a

three-term [two-term (eight month) plus summer term] to a two-term (nine month) year, Dr.

Mitnick’s salary (which was calculated on the basis of three terms over eleven months) was cut to

nine months, and was not folded fully into the nine month/two-term model in accord with this

transition. 

39. The Katz administration maintained, however, that Dr. Mitnick’s three term teaching

load of six courses (interpreted as eighteen credits) now applied to the two terms.

40. Furthermore, the higher matching retirement benefits available to older faculty (which

could be received over three terms rather than just two terms) were also cut; younger faculty

members already on nine month salaries that included their full contract salary as well as retirement
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benefits were not cut at the same time.

41. Dr. Mitnick’s salary has been far below the comparable salaries of professors in his

field of business ethics/business and society.

42. For example, for the 2013-2014 academic year, the mean salary of full professors of

business ethics at an accredited public business school was $190,300.00 at the 75th percentile and

$229,100.00 at the 90th percentile in data reported by the Association to Advance Collegiate Schools

of Business (“AACSB”); the mean at a research institution like Pitt would have been higher.

43. In contrast, Dr. Mitnick’s salary was $111,534.00, which was less than half the salary

of a professor with comparable international achievements in his or her field.

44. Dr. Mitnick’s salary has been below that paid non-tenure-stream (term contract or

“clinical”) faculty who are hired primarily to teach rather than to do research and who sometimes

do not have a terminal degree.

45. Dr. Mitnick’s salary has been below that paid to assistant professors (a rank that is

not tenured), below associate professors, as well as below full professors. 

46. Moreover, even though he was ultimately promoted to the rank of full professor, Dr.

Mitnick’s salary was never adjusted to reflect successive promotions in rank; he never received a

corresponding pay raise at the times of each of his promotions in rank, first to associate professor

and then to full professor.

47. Dr. Mitnick unsuccessfully appealed the decisions denying him a salary increase; he

requested that his salary be increased to at least $200,000.00, since his achievements place him well

over the mean/median for business school faculty in his field.

48. Because Dr. Mitnick’s salary was so low, his summer support maximum is far below
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the maximum available to his peers.

49. Even though University Policy No. 07-09-01 (which has been attached as “Exhibit

B” to this Complaint) states that “[e]ach responsibility center must have explicit written policies

regarding promotion increases for faculty and staff,” the Katz School has no such policy.

50. Unlike common practice at other academic institutions, Dr. Mitnick received no

salary increments on account of any of his promotions, keeping his base salary tied to the lowest

level of academic rank.

51. In the past, Dr. Mitnick was not properly credited for his entire course load for

multiple years.

52. The University did not properly credit Dr. Mitnick for all of the credits he taught

between 1981 and 2018.

53. With respect to the terms of his contract and reductions in load normally given to

research faculty, Dr. Mitnick taught far in excess what of his colleagues were asked to teach; this 

includes–but is not limited to–a two-year period in which he was not compensated for two courses

(six credits) that he taught as well as several other years in which the School refused to pay him for

teaching that was completed in the MBA and doctoral programs; and many other such situations over

many years.

54. The correction of these aforementioned errors would lead the Katz School to owe 

Dr. Mitnick in excess of 160 credits of teaching, or, using contractual language in which number of

courses is calculated, in excess of 65 courses, which if compensated would now have to be paid to

him as full salary plus retirement benefits. 

55. Dr. Mitnick, whose academic specialty is business ethics, has been subjected to severe
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harassment, abuse, and exclusion for years, in violation of University Policy No. 07-01-03 and the

Faculty Handbook (which have been attached as “Exhibit C” and “Exhibit D” to this Complaint).

56. This harassment created an offensive work environment and academic environment

which included being threatened with severe consequences for participating in activities normal to

and even expected of faculty, being yelled at, being “auctioned” off to any group in the school, being

told by the Dean and by the Katz School Doctoral Committee Chair that there was nothing of value

in his field and being told his area was “shit” on multiple occasions by chaired faculty members,

including a loud public outburst by a chaired professor while Dr. Mitnick was making an important

presentation to the whole faculty on ethics courses.

57. From 2009 until 2013, Dr. Mitnick was listed as “unaffiliated” with any faculty group

at Katz; he was the sole fully active member of the Katz faculty listed this way.

58. When Dr. Mitnick was brought back into a regular faculty group, the School did not

fully change its records, nor did it supply him with the same support as his senior colleagues.

59. Dr. Mitnick was not put on the School email distribution list for this group until late

March 2016, excluding him from communications to and from the group, and his requests to the

Dean’s office for adequate faculty budget support were ignored for four years.

60. Unlike every case of recruitment of senior faculty in one’s own discipline since he

joined the School in 1978, Dr. Mitnick was excluded from direct participation in recruitment for the

Zoffer Chair in Ethics and Leadership (“Zoffer Chair”), and threatened by then Katz School Dean

John Delaney (“Dean Delaney”) with the most severe consequences if Dr. Mitnick were so much to

as mention the search to “anyone, anywhere, anytime.”

61. The same threat was made by Prof. Audrey Murrell, who was centrally involved in
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the search.

62. Dr. Mitnick had raised internal concerns regarding the potential misuse for donated

funds that were earmarked for the Zoffer Chair by filling it, contrary to the donor’s wishes, with a

faculty member whose interests were not in business ethics.

63. Despite the fact that Dr. Mitnick repeatedly raised concerns for misuse of the funds,

the Katz administration interviewed several candidates for the Chair who were not in business ethics,

and made an offer to one of them (the offer was accepted by the candidate not in business ethics,

who later declined the chair).

64. Despite the Katz School’s practice to always notify relevant faculty of such meetings,

Dr. Mitnick was not notified of an important Promotion and Tenure Committee Meeting in June

2017 for the prospective holder of the Zoffer Chair, which he then missed.

65. At a reception in 2017 to celebrate the Zoffer Chair and the successful history of

ethics work at Katz, Dr. Mitnick, who was a central part of that historical success, was completely

excluded from recognition.

66. For the past four years, Dr. Mitnick has been trying to get the listing of his

publications in the online Faculty Accomplishment System (“FAS”) used in annual reviews

corrected by the Dean’s office; the FAS list used in evaluations omits several publications authored

by Dr. Mitnick, which omissions may have impacted his annual raises in the relevant years.

67. Currently, the Katz School administration claims that there are no records of Dr.

Mitnick’s evaluations in the relevant years and that they cannot determine whether the missing

publications were included in his evaluations.

68. Throughout Dr. Mitnick’s time at Katz, the administration has minimized his
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achievements; for instance, Katz School administrators publicly humiliated, and engaged in abusive

behavior towards, Dr. Mitnick for his advocacy and professional service on behalf of children with

Down syndrome.

69. Dr. Mitnick and his wife have a son with Down syndrome, and his advocacy and

professional service arises from this familial relationship.

70. Dr. Mitnick serves as the faculty advisor to the Pitt chapter of “Best Buddies,” a

national advocacy program for individuals with intellectual disabilities.

71. Dr. Mitnick has written over twenty articles for Down syndrome journals.

72. More recently, Dr. Mitnick authored an article published in the Pittsburgh Post-

Gazette that concerned matters relating to special needs individuals.

73. Former interim Katz School dean, and former Vice Provost, Andrew Blair (“Vice

Provost Blair”) told Dr. Mitnick informally and verbally that the articles that he authored for the

Down syndrome journals had been counted towards Dr. Mitnick’s 1997 application for promotion

to the rank of full professor.

74. Notwithstanding the aforementioned informal statement, Dr. Mitnick is uncertain as

to whether the articles he wrote for the Down syndrome journals were ever credited towards his

promotion application.

75. Moreover, Dr. Mitnick was never told formally that he would receive credit for the

Down syndrome articles that he authored, nor was he ever credited for those articles at any time after

his promotion.

76. Shortly thereafter, when Frederick Winter (“Dean Winter”) was appointed Katz

School Dean, Dr. Mitnick was accused publicly by Dean Winter, at Dean Winter’s very first meeting
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of the entire faculty, of acting improperly when he wrote on topics related to special needs

individuals.

77. Moreover, Dr. Mitnick was told at his annual review meetings that he should not

waste time on such writing and that his writing in the area of special needs would not count at all in

his evaluations; indeed, it would count against him.

78. At a meeting of the School’s Board of Visitors, Dean Winter showed a slide with a

full-page photo of Dr. Mitnick with the caption, “Advocate for Down Syndrome;” at the same time,

Dean Winter was actively discouraging Dr. Mitnick’s writing as well as service work in the special

needs area, including special education.

79. Since then, the Katz School administration has discouraged Dr. Mitnick from writing

about topics related to special needs individuals by refusing to give any credit for doing so.

80. Other faculty members at Katz who did research as well as professional service work

outside the area of private business management, including in education and in health care

management, were highly rewarded by Katz School administrators.

81. Dr. Mitnick has not been given proper material support from the University; for

instance, on two separate instances (2003 and 2009) his storage space at the UPARC off-campus

facility was been flooded due to failure of the University to maintain the HVAC system, and the

space was infested with extremely high levels of toxic mold.

82. Dr. Mitnick was exposed to high levels of toxic mold over a period of many weeks.

83. Dr. Mitnick was also exposed to asbestos dust when a contractor supervised by the

University removed asbestos-containing flooring from the storage area when he was present but was

without proper protection.
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84. Even though Dr. Mitnick had no control over the flooding, he was unfairly blamed

for the damage and threatened with severe discipline, presumably including termination from the

University, by the Associate Vice Chancellor for Business and Real Estate Eli Shorak in case of a

repeat instance.

85. Even though he is one of the co-originators of agency theory, Dr. Mitnick has

consistently earned less than his colleagues at the Katz School, and he sought review of his salary

beginning in 2003 and on a regular basis since 2010.

86. The Katz School has treated Dr. Mitnick’s claim to originate agency theory, a fact that

if true would validate his request for a commensurate salary at the level of a chair, as humorous and

has taken a dismissive view of this claim because of the date of its occurrence (1973, 1974) and his

age.

87. In the letter of response to Dr. Mitnick’s salary appeal received in December 2011,

the appeals committee consisting of Dean Delaney, Associate Dean (now Vice Provost) Laurie

Kirsch (“Dean Kirsch”), and Associate Dean Jeff Inman (“Dean Inman” or “Associate Dean Inman”)

claimed falsely that Dr. Mitnick had presented no evidence of creating agency theory, and

misrepresented Dr. Mitnick’s contributions in a variety of areas, including teaching.

88. The claim made by Dean Delaney, Dean Kirsch, and Dean Inman that there was no

evidence that Dr. Mitnick was a founder of agency theory is in direct conflict with the letter dated

Nov. 30, 1993, to Dr. Mitnick from Dean Zoffer in which he wrote that “I hope that this will make

it possible for you to complete your book on theory of agency to help secure your position as a

founder of that theory.”

89. Prior to December 2011, Dean Kirsch, a member of the December 2011 Appeals
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Committee that challenged Dr. Mitnick’s origination of agency theory, attended Dr. Mitnick’s

invited presentation to the Katz Faculty on his research on agency, including its origin, and spoke

to him after the talk and remarked that it was ironic for her to hear directly how agency began after

studying it as a doctoral student years ago.

90. In their response letter, Dean Delaney, Dean Kirsch, and Dean Inman took the

extraordinary step of doing a completely invalid citation analysis that purported to find no support

for Dr. Mitnick’s creation of agency theory.

91. Because Dr. Mitnick originated agency theory in his 1974 doctoral dissertation as well

as in papers published in 1973 and 1975 (the latter published in the journal Public Choice), the claim

levied by Dean Delaney, Dean Kirsch, and Dean Inman was equivalent to charging Dr. Mitnick of

using his long service on the faculty, with relatively few colleagues with direct memories of Dr.

Mitnick’s achievements at the time he joined the faculty, to falsely represent his professional

credentials.

92. In this letter, Dr. Mitnick was being subjected to the extraordinary abuse of being

implicitly threatened with dismissal from the University. 

93. The response letter was not forwarded to Dr. Mitnick until after thirty days, which

is outside the time frame allowed for a response under the University procedures.

94. Dean Delaney, Dean Kirsch, and Dean Inman engaged in discriminatory behavior

toward Dr. Mitnick, exploiting his age and the fact that his dissertation and early work occurred so

long ago. 

95. The Katz School’s practice of sarcastic age discrimination continued in the response

to Dr. Mitnick’s salary appeal of March 21, 2016, which the School did not reply to until September
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9, 2016; the response read, in pertinent part, that “Professor Mitnick’s salary does appear to be on

the low side, albeit we also noticed that he came to Katz from Ohio State in 1978, so his contribution

to agency theory was presumably taken into account at the time of the offer.”

96. The clear, tongue-in-cheek meaning is that he is elderly, coming here long time ago

with a low salary that reflected his actual contribution to agency theory, which thus also must have

been minimal.

97. Dr. Mitnick’s complaints have been met with sarcasm, and any response to his

complaints as required by University policy have been bypassed or short-circuited; administrators

have ignored his repeated requests to protect him from abuse and to correct the consequences of that

abuse, contrary to explicit University policy (see Exhibit C and Exhibit D).

98. The metrics used to evaluate Dr. Mitnick’s scholarship lack any real validity in that

they ignored the officially approved statement by the governing body of the leading association of

Dr. Mitnick’s own field, used inappropriate comparisons, and were strongly influenced by

reputational concerns not supported by University policies.

99. Associate Dean Inman and Associate Dean Rabikar Chatterjee (“Associate Dean

Chatterjee”) informed Dr. Mitnick at his Annual Review on August 28, 2018, that he was expected,

via the explicit design of the School’s incentive system for publication, that his (and, by implication,

the faculty’s) primary focus should be to work to boost the School’s reputation, and not to primarily

serve his contractually required tasks of doing high quality research, teaching in his discipline, and

service appropriate to the University; this requirement imposed on Dr. Mitnick violates both his

contract and his academic freedom.

100. At his Annual Review on August 28, 2018, Dean Inman verified that the deans had
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never replaced the defective Association of Business Schools/Academic Journal Guide

(“ABS/AJG”) UK ranking of journals, which had accidentally omitted the top journal in Dr.

Mitnick’s field, Business & Society, with the corrected ABS/AJG list, so that Business & Society was

not even considered for placement on the “A-Journal List;” Dean Inman confirmed that there were

no plans to put any of the top journals in Dr. Mitnick’s field on the School’s “A-Journal List.”

101. Notwithstanding the terms set forth in his initial letter of appointment, the Katz

School has refused to credit Dr. Mitnick for a book and several lengthy monographs in quality

annuals and collections, including a well-reviewed book, Corporate Political Agency: The

Construction of Competition in Public Affairs.

102. In the past, the Katz School administration refused to give Dr. Mitnick a sabbatical

for which was he fully qualified, requiring instead that he teach far more than most of his colleagues.

103. During the course of his employment at Katz, Dr. Mitnick’s voice in institutional

governance has been minimized; for instance, he was told by Dean Delaney that his input at faculty

meetings is “not welcome.”

104. Dr. Mitnick routinely received no or minimal responses to important and substantive

communications with Dean Delaney.

105. For instance, Dr. Mitnick received no response to a documented report to Dean

Delaney that data used to terminate the doctoral major in Dr. Mitnick’s field was manipulated to

yield a false result.

106. Furthermore Dean Delaney failed to respond to an urgent memo from Dr. Mitnick that 

a review by Prof. Audrey Murrell (“Prof. Murrell”) of his application for a grant from the

BNY-Mellon Corporation grant had been falsified.
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107. Dr. Mitnick, who usually taught a course overload either by requirement or to make

up for the salary reduction under Dean Delaney, was denied adequate support to complete his

research.

108. Dr. Mitnick’s success with respect to the mentoring of doctoral students went

unrecognized, notwithstanding the fact that six of his students won, or were finalists for, seven

awards for best dissertation.

109. On February 25, 2016, Dr. Mitnick received notice of his salary for the upcoming

academic year; his salary was still significantly less that what was paid to his colleagues in the Katz

School.

110. In March 2016, noting that his salary was at least $100,000.00 per year below scale,

Dr. Mitnick appealed the salary decision to the Katz School Salary Review Committee (“Salary

Review Committee”); however, this appeal was ultimately unsuccessful.

111. Even while acknowledging that Dr. Mitnick’s salary is below market, current Katz

School Dean Arjang Assad (“Dean Assad”) denied Dr. Mitnick’s salary appeal.

112. In his annual reports for 2015-17, Dr. Mitnick noted that, contrary to University

policy, Katz has subjected him to a hostile environment, thereby making it impossible for him to

conduct his research and discharge his duties as a faculty member at Katz.

113. Dr. Mitnick supplied Dean Assad with documentation regarding the history of hostile

and abusive conduct that he experienced; however, Dean Assad largely ignored this documentation

for almost two years.

114. Even though he denied him a salary market adjustment for the 2017-18 academic

year, in August 2017, Dean Assad, upon reviewing the history of abuses and harassment of Dr.

17

Case 2:18-cv-01186-JFC   Document 1   Filed 09/06/18   Page 17 of 45



Mitnick, told him at the annual review meeting that he would have filed formal grievances on a

couple occasions, thereby validating the prior complaints.

115. While he was given a single “market adjustment” of 13.94% for the 2016-17

academic year, Dr. Mitnick’s 2017-18 salary of $137,770.65 remained below the mean salary of a

non-tenured Katz assistant professor in 2016, $141,977.00, a mean lowered by the salaries of a

number of non-tenure stream clinical faculty members in Katz who have lower salaries because of

their clinical status, and below that of a full professor at Katz in 2016, $193,987.00, a mean

significantly reduced by the fact that it includes Dr. Mitnick’s salary.

116. If he had not been given the aforementioned “market adjustment,” Dr. Mitnick would

have been paid less than a newly hired non-tenure stream clinical faculty member in his own field

at Katz.

117. One female faculty member, a chaired associate professor in marketing, was listed

in an online article on what top business school professors get paid as among “the top professors

drawing high salaries” in the U.S.; the top ten above her are listed with salaries all over $500,000.

118. According to information obtained from a Right to Know Disclosure, at least one

other female faculty member at Katz, Diane Denis (“Prof. Denis”), made over $400,000.00 for the

2017 Fiscal Year.

119. Dr. Mitnick is currently assigned to teach twelve credit hours; this would have been

reduced by three credits if he had received a faculty research award from the three articles and the

edited symposium that he published in one academic year in the journal Business & Society.

120. Dr. Mitnick’s twelve credit teaching load was calculated based on the assumption that

his base load is eighteen credits. 
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121. According to the Katz School administration, Dr. Mitnick’s level of research warrants

a reduction in load of six credits from eighteen to twelve credits.

122. However, per his employment contract, Dr. Mitnick’s base load for two terms is four,

not six courses, equivalent to twelve credits or less.

123. Depending on how many credits are assigned to the courses, a reduction of six credits

then would bring Dr. Mitnick’s assigned load from twelve to six credits. 

124. With the faculty research award of three credits from publishing three articles in a top

journal in a single year, Dr Mitnick’s assigned load should have fallen, contractually, to three credits. 

125. The School violated Dr. Mitnick’s contract every year since the change to nine

months (since the 2012 fiscal year), and owes him compensation in the form of proportional salary

plus retirement benefits.

126. Dr. Mitnick was assigned additional courses in the past because he did not publish

in journals on the “A-Journal List,” despite the fact that the list has no journals in his field; however,

his salary was not adjusted upward to compensate him for this overload.

127. On September 29, 2017, Dr. Mitnick was again denied a salary increase that would

put his compensation at a level commensurate with his colleagues at Katz.

128. Dr. Mitnick appealed the salary decision on October 27, 2017; his appeal was denied

by Dean Assad in a letter dated December 6, 2017, apparently without the required formation of a

salary review committee.

129. Dean Assad repeated from previous communications that “matters referring to prior

years (and in some cases, decades), which form a large part of your appeal letter, are outside the

scope of annual review and will not be addressed.”
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130. Dean Assad’s refusal even embraced administrative errors as well as policy errors in

Dr. Mitnick’s teaching load assignments.

131. In his letter dated December 6, 2017, Dean Assad claimed that the treatment of Dr.

Mitnick did not continue a hostile environment, but, whether he intended it or not, the hostility

towards Dr. Mitnick has persisted.

132. Dr. Mitnick has asked for redress on these issues in meetings with Katz School

administrators as well as in the context of formal salary appeals; nothing has been done to actually

remedy the events and conditions described.

133. The Katz School administration did not treat either the March 2016 appeal (the later

date of the appeal is because the salary letter triggering this appeal was late due to the University

budget), or the October 2017 appeal seriously.

134. Repeated direct appeals by Dr. Mitnick to the office of the University Provost have

been unsuccessful; even when investigative action was explicitly authorized by former Provost

James Maher and delegated to Vice Provost Blair, no action was taken by his office, contrary to

University policy.

135. Dr. Mitnick asked three successive Vice Provosts to ask the Provost to take action;

they would not permit Dr. Mitnick to even speak directly to the Provost. 

136. Dr. Mitnick met with Dean Inman in December 2017 to try to understand the process

used to construct the new “A-Journal List” to take effect in 2019.

137. Dean Inman verified that the process of comparison to construct the list began with

the schools in two athletic conferences of which the University is a member, as well as involving

other metrics (two of which he was unfamiliar with) and rankings, with the ranking of the University
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of Texas at Dallas–which has no ethics journals–having a prime influence.

138. The rankings upon which the new metrics will be based are strongly criticized in the

literature and have no external validity, even though other business schools frequently copy them.

139. The rankings include that of the newspaper The Financial Times, which is done by

journalists with no academic expertise.

140. The use of “reputational norms” to evaluate faculty is outside of the normal operating

procedure at the University, and does not appear in any University policy or in its Faculty Handbook

as a requirement.

141. The process of revising the “A-Journal List” was not responsive to faculty comments

and requests (the deans say in a videotaped faculty meeting that they explicitly excluded all

suggestions from the Katz School faculty) and was arbitrary.

142. Dr. Mitnick is one of the oldest faculty members at the Katz School, and he is paid

considerably less than his colleagues; faculty members who are female and/or significantly younger

than Dr. Mitnick are paid more than him.

143. Other older faculty members at the Katz School experienced similar ageist

discrimination when the School changed from “eight month” (actually three term) to nine month

salaries; these were the oldest faculty members who joined the School when it had a three term

calendar, and their salaries were cut as a result of the change.

144. The fact that Dr. Mitnick has been at the University since 1978 and his salary is still

below that paid to assistant professors suggests the extreme nature of the bias in his salary, which

is far below even a common standard for salary compression published by the American Association

of University Professors (often seen when a faculty member has been at the same school for a long
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time).

145. Dr. Mitnick, a full professor, is about 40 years older than the mean age of the tenure

stream assistant professors at Katz (about 32 years old), all of whom are untenured, yet his salary is

less than all or almost all their salaries, per remarks made by Dean Inman at Dr. Mitnick’s annual

review meeting on August 28, 2018, and his salary is less than the mean salary for assistant

professors even when clinical assistant professors, who make substantially less than tenure stream

assistant professors, are included.

146. About half the tenure stream assistant professors in Katz are female, so Dr. Mitnick’s

salary is also below all or almost all the female assistant professors as well, as well as below

associate and full professors who are female.

147. Moreover, Dr. Mitnick’s salary is significantly lower than what is paid to other

professors within his comparison groups both inside and outside of the University.

148. For the 2017 Fiscal Year, the average salary paid to women at the Katz School who

had the rank of full Professor was close to the $190,800-$195,800 range, as calculated from public

University data; this is more than Dr. Mitnick’s salary for that same period.

149. Considering that Katz School salaries are higher than those paid to faculty in other

academic units (the mean salary paid to faculty at rank of full professor by the Katz School is

$200,002.00, while the average salary paid to full professors across all disciplines in the University

is $153,000.00), Dr. Mitnick’s salary is low.

150. Dr. Mitnick has also raised concerns with Katz School administrators regarding their

representations to outside accrediting bodies.

151. For instance, in a letter to Dean Assad dated March 26, 2018, Dr. Mitnick pointed out
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errors in the instrument used to collect required data for the “Assurance of Learning” metric for the

core ethics course in the maintenance of accreditation report presented to the Association to Advance

Collegiate Schools of Business (“AACSB”); the School decided to include the bad data and conceal

its errors from the AACSB.

152. In the aforementioned letter, Dr. Mitnick raised concerns regarding misrepresentation

by Katz in prior accreditation reports submitted by the Katz School to the AACSB.

153. Dr. Mitnick also pointed out that, in a 2004 New York Times article, the Katz School

had claimed falsely that professors at Katz were required to take a course in business ethics.

154. Prior to the date of the letter, on March 22, Dr. Mitnick contacted Katz administrator

Karri Rogers in order to point out omissions in the report presented to the AACSB regarding his

accomplishments.

155. Moreover, Dr. Mitnick was subjected to dangerous working conditions at the UPARC

facility; female and/or significantly younger faculty were not exposed to similarly dangerous working

conditions.

156. Dr. Mitnick has variously experienced harassment, removal from the regular faculty,

and diminution, among other adverse actions, throughout his employment at Katz.

157. Dr. Mitnick was paid less than his colleagues on account of his gender, age, and his

disability advocacy.

158. Dr. Mitnick was paid less, and was subjected to adverse employment actions, because

of his association with his special-needs son.

159. Dr. Mitnick was subjected to adverse employment actions  on  account  of  his 

gender,  age,  and disability advocacy/association.
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 160. These aforementioned adverse actions are continuing.

161. Dr. Mitnick demands a jury trial.

VI.  COUNTS

COUNT I: DISCRIMINATION ON THE BASIS OF AGE
Plaintiff Barry Mitnick v. Defendant The University of Pittsburgh–of the Commonwealth

System of Higher Education
Violation of the Age Discrimination in Employment Act, 29 U.S.C. § 621 et seq.

162. The preceding paragraphs are incorporated as if set forth at length herein.

163. Dr. Mitnick is over forty years old, and as such is a member of the ADEA protected

class.

164. Dr. Mitnick is qualified for his position as a member of the Katz School faculty.

165. Dr. Mitnick has been compensated unfairly at levels that are considerably less than

the mean salary paid to his colleagues at the Katz School and that are far below the mean salary for

professors with comparable achievements at other comparable universities.

166. In that he is being paid significantly less than the Katz School mean salary, it is

possible to infer that Dr. Mitnick’s compensation is significantly less than what is paid to his

younger colleagues at the Katz School.

167. Based on information and belief, Dr. Mitnick is paid significantly less than similarly

situated younger employees.

168. Based on information and belief, the University’s justification for the pay disparity

is a pretext for age discrimination.

169. Dr. Mitnick has been evaluated less fairly than his younger colleagues.

170. The aforementioned pay disparity and the unfair evaluations constitute adverse
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employment actions.

171. Dr. Mitnick was treated unfavorably, and was subjected to adverse employment

action, on account of his age.

172. Dr. Mitnick seeks all remedies and damages permitted under the ADEA, including

back pay, damages for lost prospective future employment, damages for prospective harm in his

present position, liquidated damages, front pay, injunctive and declaratory relief, and payment of his

litigation costs, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, plus pre-judgment and post-judgment interest.

COUNT II: HOSTILE WORK ENVIRONMENT ON THE BASIS OF AGE
Plaintiff Barry Mitnick v. Defendant The University of Pittsburgh–of the Commonwealth

System of Higher Education
Violation of the Age Discrimination in Employment Act, 29 U.S.C. § 621 et seq.

173. The preceding paragraphs are incorporated as if set forth at length herein.

174. Dr. Mitnick is over forty years old, and as such is member of the ADEA protected

class.

175. Dr. Mitnick is qualified for his position as a member of the Katz School faculty.

176. Dr. Mitnick has been subject to a hostile work environment in that he has been subject

to severe harassment, abuse, and exclusion in violation of University policy.

177. This hostile work environment includes, but is not limited to, being threatened with

severe consequences for participating in activities normal to and even expected of faculty, being

yelled at, being “auctioned” off to any group in within the Katz School, being told by the Dean and

by the Katz School Doctoral Committee Chair that there was nothing of value in his field and being

told his area was “shit” on multiple occasions.

178. Dr. Mitnick was exposed to a specific incident of ageist hostility when Katz School
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administrators took a dismissive view of his role in the development of agency theory and noted that

Dr. Mitnick started his work in this area over forty years ago.

179. Dr. Mitnick was subjected to a hostile work environment, was paid significantly less

than his colleagues, and was paid far below the mean salary for professors with comparable

achievements at other comparable universities, on account of his age.

180. Dr. Mitnick seeks all remedies and damages permitted under the ADEA, including

back pay, damages for lost prospective future employment, damages for prospective harm in his

present position, liquidated damages, front pay, injunctive and declaratory relief, and payment of his

litigation costs, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, plus pre-judgment and post-judgment interest.

COUNT III: DISCRIMINATION ON THE BASIS OF GENDER
Plaintiff Barry Mitnick v. Defendant The University of Pittsburgh–of the Commonwealth

System of Higher Education
Violation of Title VII, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e et seq.

181. The preceding paragraphs are incorporated as if set forth at length herein.

182. Dr. Mitnick is a male, and as such is a member of a class protected by Title VII.

183. Dr. Mitnick is qualified for his position as a member of the Katz School faculty.

184. Dr. Mitnick’s salary of $137,770.65 is unfairly low, being considerably less than the

mean salary for female full professors at Katz in the 2017 Fiscal Year, which was close to the 

$190,800-$195,800 range, as calculated from public University data, and far below the mean salary

for professors with comparable achievements at other universities.

185. Dr. Mitnick has been paid significantly less than his colleagues, on account of his

gender.

186. Based on information and belief, Dr. Mitnick is paid significantly less than similarly
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situated female employees.

187. Based on information and belief, the University’s justification of the pay disparity is

pretext for gender discrimination.

188. Dr. Mitnick has been evaluated less fairly than his female colleagues.

189. Currently, the mean annual salary for female full professors at Katz is close to the

$190,800-$195,800 range, as calculated from public University data, while Dr. Mitnick’s salary is

only $137,770.65.

190. The aforementioned pay disparity and the unfair evaluations constitute adverse

employment actions.

191. Dr. Mitnick was treated unfavorably, and was subjected to adverse employment

action, on account of his gender.

192. Dr. Mitnick seeks all remedies and damages permitted under Title VII, including back

pay, damages for lost prospective future employment, damages for prospective harm in his present

position, compensatory damages for emotional pain and suffering, injunctive and declaratory relief,

and payment of his litigation costs, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, plus pre-judgment and

post-judgment interest.

COUNT IV: HOSTILE WORK ENVIRONMENT ON THE BASIS OF GENDER
Plaintiff Barry Mitnick v. Defendant The University of Pittsburgh–of the Commonwealth

System of Higher Education
Violation of Title VII, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e et seq.

193. The preceding paragraphs are incorporated as if set forth at length herein.

194. Dr. Mitnick is a male, and as such is a member of a class protected by Title VII.

195. Dr. Mitnick is qualified for his position as a member of the Katz School faculty.
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196. Dr. Mitnick has been subject to a hostile work environment in that he has been subject

to severe harassment, abuse, and exclusion in violation of University policy.

197. This hostile work environment includes, but is not limited to, being threatened with

severe consequences for participating in activities normal to and even expected of faculty, being

yelled at, being “auctioned” off to any group in within the Katz School, being told by the Dean and

by the Katz School Doctoral Committee Chair that there was nothing of value in his field and being

told his area was “shit” on multiple occasions.

198. Dr. Mitnick was exposed to a specific incident of hostility when Katz School

administrators took a dismissive view of his role in the development of agency theory and noted that

Dr. Mitnick started his work in this area over forty years ago.

199. Dr. Mitnick was subjected to a hostile work environment, and paid significantly less

than his colleagues, on account of his gender.

200. Dr. Mitnick seeks all remedies and damages permitted under Title VII, including back

pay, damages for lost prospective future employment, damages for prospective harm in his present

position, compensatory damages for emotional pain and suffering, injunctive and declaratory relief,

and payment of his litigation costs, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, plus pre-judgment and

post-judgment interest.

COUNT V: DISCRIMINATION OF THE BASIS OF GENDER
Plaintiff Barry Mitnick v. Defendant The University of Pittsburgh–of the Commonwealth

System of Higher Education
Violation of the Equal Pay Act, 29 U.S.C. § 206(d)

201. The preceding paragraphs are incorporated as if set forth at length herein.

202. The Equal Pay Act prohibits employers from paying employees significantly less than
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similarly situated employees of the opposite sex.

203. Dr. Mitnick is a male, and as such is a member of a class protected by the Equal Pay

Act.

204. Dr. Mitnick is qualified for his position as a member of the Katz School faculty.

205. Dr. Mitnick has been compensated unfairly at levels that are considerably less than

the mean salary paid to his colleagues at the Katz School and far below the mean salary for

professors with comparable achievements at other comparable universities.

206. Dr. Mitnick’s salary of $137,770.65 is unfairly low, being considerably less than the

mean salary for female full professors at Katz in the 2017 Fiscal Year, which was close to the

$190,800-$195,800 range, as calculated from public University data, and far below the mean salary

for professors with comparable achievements at other universities.

207. Based on information and belief, Dr. Mitnick is paid significantly less than similarly

situated female employees.

208. Based on information and belief, the University’s justification of the pay disparity is

pretext for gender discrimination.

209. Dr. Mitnick was paid significantly less than his female colleagues on account of his

gender.

210. Currently, the mean annual salary for female faculty at Katz is close to the $190,800-

$195,800 range, while Dr. Mitnick’s salary is only $137,770.65.

211. The aforementioned pay disparity constitutes a violation of the Equal Pay Act.

212. Dr. Mitnick seeks all remedies and damages permitted under the Equal Pay Act,

including back pay, damages for lost prospective future employment, damages for prospective harm
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in his present position, injunctive and declaratory relief, and payment of his litigation costs,

including reasonable attorneys’ fees, plus pre-judgment and post-judgment interest.

COUNT VI: ASSOCIATIONAL DISCRIMINATION
Plaintiff Barry Mitnick v. Defendant The University of Pittsburgh–of the Commonwealth

System of Higher Education
Violation of the Americans with Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. § 12101 et seq.

213. The preceding paragraphs are incorporated as if set forth at length herein.

214. Dr. Mitnick has a disabled son with Down syndrome.

215. Dr. Mitnick has been public about his son’s condition, and he has engaged in

advocacy activities on behalf of individuals and families affected by Down syndrome.

216. On account of his public association and involvement with a disabled individual, his

son, Dr. Mitnick is a member of a class protected by the ADA.

217. Dr. Mitnick has been singled out for criticism for his advocacy on behalf of

individuals and families affected by Down syndrome.

218. Dr. Mitnick has been compensated unfairly at levels that are considerably less than

the mean salary paid to his colleagues at the Katz School and that are far below the mean salary for

professors with comparable achievements at other universities.

219. In that he is being paid significantly less than the Katz School mean salary, it is

possible to infer that Dr. Mitnick’s compensation is significantly less than what is paid to most of

his colleagues who do not have a public relationship with a disabled individual.

220. Dr. Mitnick has been evaluated less fairly than his colleagues who do not have an

association with any disabled family members.

221. The aforementioned pay disparity and the unfair evaluations constitute adverse
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employment actions.

222. Dr. Mitnick was treated unfavorably, and was subjected to adverse employment

action, on account of his association with a disabled individual.

223. Dr. Mitnick was subjected to a hostile work environment, and paid significantly less

than his colleagues, on account of his relationship with a disabled individual.

224. The aforementioned hostile work environment and the pay disparity were precipitated

by Dr. Mitnick’s relationship with disabled individuals and constitutes associational discrimination.

225. Dr. Mitnick seeks all remedies and damages permitted under the ADA, including

back pay, damages for lost prospective future employment, damages for prospective harm in his

present position, compensatory damages for emotional pain and suffering, injunctive and declaratory

relief, and payment of his litigation costs, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, plus pre-judgment

and post-judgment interest.

COUNT VII: ASSOCIATIONAL DISCRIMINATION/HOSTILE WORK
ENVIRONMENT

Plaintiff Barry Mitnick v. Defendant The University of Pittsburgh–of the Commonwealth
System of Higher Education

Violation of the Americans with Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. § 12101 et seq.

226. The preceding paragraphs are incorporated as if set forth at length herein.

227. Dr. Mitnick has a disabled son with Down syndrome.

228. Dr. Mitnick has been public about his son’s condition, and he has engaged in

advocacy activities on behalf of individuals and families affected by Down syndrome.

229. On account of his public association and involvement with a disabled individual, his

son, Dr. Mitnick is a member of a class protected by the ADA.

230. Dr. Mitnick has been subject to a hostile work environment in that he has been subject
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to severe harassment, abuse, and exclusion in violation of University policy.

231. This hostile work environment includes, but is not limited to, being threatened with

severe consequences for participating in activities normal to and even expected of faculty, being

yelled at, being “auctioned” off to any group in within the Katz School, being told by the Dean and

by the Katz School Doctoral Committee Chair that there was nothing of value in his field and being

told his area was “shit” on multiple occasions.

232. Furthermore, Dr. Mitnick has been singled out publicly in front of the entire Katz

faculty for criticism for his advocacy and writing on behalf of individuals and families affected by

Down syndrome, and for a period of years his annual evaluations were negatively affected by his

advocacy for, and writing on, Down syndrome.

233. Dr. Mitnick was subjected to a hostile work environment on account of his

relationship with a disabled individual.

234. The aforementioned hostile work environment was precipitated by Dr. Mitnick’s

relationship with disabled individuals and constitutes associational discrimination.

235. Dr. Mitnick seeks all remedies and damages permitted under the ADA, including

back pay, damages for lost prospective future employment, damages for prospective harm in his

present position, compensatory damages for emotional pain and suffering, injunctive and declaratory

relief, and payment of his litigation costs, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, plus pre-judgment

and post-judgment interest.
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COUNT VIII: DISCRIMINATION ON THE BASIS OF GENDER
Plaintiff Barry Mitnick v. Defendant The University of Pittsburgh–of the Commonwealth

System of Higher Education
Violation of Title IX, 20 U.S.C. § 1681 et seq.

236. The preceding paragraphs are incorporated as if set forth at length herein.

237. Title IX prohibits gender discrimination on the part of any educational institution that

receives federal funding.

238. Pitt is an educational institution that receives federal funding and, as such, is subject

to the provisions of Title IX.

239. Dr. Mitnick is a male, and as such is a member of a class protected by Title IX.

240. Dr. Mitnick is qualified for his position as a member of the Katz School faculty.

241. Dr. Mitnick has been compensated unfairly at levels that are considerably less than

the mean salary paid to his colleagues at the Katz School and far below the mean salary for

professors with comparable achievements at other comparable universities.

242. In that he is being paid significantly less than the Katz School mean salary, Dr.

Mitnick’s compensation has remained significantly less than what is paid to his female colleagues

at the Katz School.

243. Dr. Mitnick has been paid significantly less than his colleagues, on account of his

gender.

244. Dr. Mitnick has been evaluated less fairly than his female colleagues.

245. Currently, the mean annual salary for female faculty at Katz is close to the $190,800-

$195,800 range, while Dr. Mitnick’s salary is only $137,770.65.

246. The aforementioned pay disparity and the unfair evaluations constitute adverse
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employment actions.

247. Dr. Mitnick was treated unfavorably, and was subjected to adverse employment

actions, on account of his gender.

248. Dr. Mitnick seeks all remedies and damages permitted under Title IX, including back

pay, damages for lost prospective future employment, damages for prospective harm in his present

position, compensatory damages for emotional pain and suffering, injunctive and declaratory relief,

and payment of his litigation costs, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, plus pre-judgment and

post-judgment interest.

COUNT IX: HOSTILE WORK ENVIRONMENT ON THE BASIS OF GENDER
Plaintiff Barry Mitnick v. Defendant The University of Pittsburgh–of the Commonwealth

System of Higher Education
Violation of Title IX, 20 U.S.C. § 1681 et seq.

249. The preceding paragraphs are incorporated as if set forth at length herein.

250. Title IX prohibits gender discrimination on the part of any educational institution that

receives federal funding.

251. Pitt is an educational institution that receives federal funding and, as such, is subject

to the provisions of Title IX.

252. Dr. Mitnick is a male, and as such is a member of a class protected by Title IX.

253. Dr. Mitnick is qualified for his position as a member of the Katz School faculty.

254. Dr. Mitnick has been subject to a hostile work environment in that he has been subject

to severe harassment, abuse, and exclusion in violation of University policy.

255. This hostile work environment includes, but is not limited to, being threatened with

severe consequences for participating in activities normal to and even expected of faculty, being
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yelled at, being “auctioned” off to any group in within the Katz School, being told by the Dean and

by the Katz School Doctoral Committee Chair that there was nothing of value in his field and being

told his area was “shit” on multiple occasions.

256. Dr. Mitnick was exposed to a specific incident of hostility when Katz School

administrators took a dismissive view of his role in the development of agency theory and noted that

Dr. Mitnick started his work in this area over forty years ago.

257. Dr. Mitnick was subjected to a hostile work environment, and paid significantly less

than his colleagues, on account of his gender.

258. Dr. Mitnick seeks all remedies and damages permitted under Title IX, including back

pay, damages for lost prospective future employment, damages for prospective harm in his present

position, compensatory damages for emotional pain and suffering, injunctive and declaratory relief,

and payment of his litigation costs, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, plus pre-judgment and

post-judgment interest.

COUNT X: RETALIATION FOR EXERCISE OF PROTECTED ACTIVITIES
Plaintiff Barry Mitnick v. Defendant The University of Pittsburgh–of the Commonwealth

System of Higher Education
Violation of the Age Discrimination in Employment Act, 29 U.S.C. § 621 et seq.

259. The preceding paragraphs are incorporated as if set forth at length herein.

260. Dr. Mitnick is over forty years old, and as such is member of the ADEA protected

class.

261. Dr. Mitnick is qualified for his position as a member of the Katz School faculty.

262. Dr. Mitnick has been subject to a hostile work environment in that he has been subject

to severe harassment, abuse, and exclusion in violation of University policy.
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263. Dr. Mitnick has also been compensated unfairly at levels that are considerably less

than the mean salary paid to his colleagues at the Katz School and that are far below the mean salary

for professors with comparable achievements at other comparable universities.

264. The aforementioned hostile work environment and the pay disparity were precipitated

by Dr. Mitnick’s age, and as such constitute age discrimination.

265. Dr. Mitnick complained of this discriminatory treatment to Katz School

administrators to no avail.

266. Moreover, the discriminatory treatment of Dr. Mitnick continued after he made the

aforementioned complaints.

267. Dr. Mitnick’s complaints regarding adverse treatment constitute activities protected

by the ADEA.

268. The continued discriminatory treatment of Dr. Mitnick constitutes retaliation for his

exercise of protected activities.

269. Dr. Mitnick seeks all remedies and damages permitted under the ADEA, including

back pay, damages for lost prospective future employment, damages for prospective harm in his

present position, liquidated damages, front pay, injunctive and declaratory relief, and payment of his

litigation costs, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, plus pre-judgment and post-judgment interest.

COUNT XI: RETALIATION FOR THE EXERCISE OF PROTECTED ACTIVITIES
Plaintiff Barry Mitnick v. Defendant The University of Pittsburgh–of the Commonwealth

System of Higher Education
Violation of the Americans with Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. § 12101 et seq.

270. The preceding paragraphs are incorporated as if set forth at length herein.

271. Dr. Mitnick has a disabled son with Down syndrome.
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272. Dr. Mitnick has been public about his son’s condition, and he has engaged in

advocacy activities on behalf of individuals and families affected by Down syndrome.

273. On account of his public association and involvement with a disabled individual, his

son, Dr. Mitnick is a member of a class protected by the ADA.

274. Dr. Mitnick has been subject to a hostile work environment in that he has been subject

to severe harassment, abuse, and exclusion in violation of University policy.

275. Dr. Mitnick has also been compensated unfairly at levels that are considerably less

than the mean salary paid to his colleagues at the Katz School and that are far below the mean salary

for professors with comparable achievements at other comparable universities.

276. Dr. Mitnick has been singled out for his advocacy on behalf of individuals and

families affected by Down syndrome.

277. The aforementioned hostile work environment and the pay disparity were precipitated

by Dr. Mitnick’s relationship with disabled individuals and constitutes associational discrimination.

278. Dr. Mitnick complained of this discriminatory treatment to Katz School

administrators to no avail.

279. Moreover, the discriminatory treatment of Dr. Mitnick continued after he made the

aforementioned complaints.

280. Dr. Mitnick’s complaints regarding adverse treatment constitute activities protected

by the ADA.

281. The continued discriminatory treatment of Dr. Mitnick constitutes retaliation for his

exercise of protected activities.

282. Dr. Mitnick seeks all remedies and damages permitted under the ADA, including
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back pay, damages for lost prospective future employment, damages for prospective harm in his

present position, compensatory damages for emotional pain and suffering, injunctive and declaratory

relief, and payment of his litigation costs, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, plus pre-judgment

and post-judgment interest.

COUNT XII: VIOLATION OF PROTECTED FREE SPEECH RIGHTS
Plaintiff Barry Mitnick v. Defendant The University of Pittsburgh–of the Commonwealth

System of Higher Education
Violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983

283. The preceding paragraphs are incorporated as if set forth at length herein.

284. The University is a state actor that acted under the color of law to deny Dr. Mitnick

his protected rights to free speech.

285. Dr. Mitnick engaged in protected speech when he engaged in research in his main

area of scholarly interest, business ethics/business and society.

286. Dr. Mitnick further engaged in protected speech when he raised concerns regarding

the possible misuse of funds earmarked for the Zoffer Chair.

287. Dr. Mitnick further engaged in protected speech when engaged in advocacy on behalf

of individuals and families affected by Down syndrome.

288. Dr. Mitnick was also not credited properly for the articles that he wrote for Down

syndrome journals but rather was penalized for both those articles as well as for his advocacy on

behalf of individuals with special needs.

289. Academic research, complaints about the misuse of funds, and advocacy on behalf

of the disabled constitute constitutionally-protected speech.

290. At his Annual Review on August 28, 2018, Dean Inman verified that the deans had
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never replaced the defective ABS/AIG UK ranking of journals, which had accidentally omitted the

top journal in Dr. Mitnick’s field, Business & Society, with the corrected ABS/AIG list, so that

Business & Society was not even considered for placement on the “A-Journal List;” and Dean Inman

confirmed that there were no plans to put any of the top journals in Dr. Mitnick’s field on the

School’s “A-Journal List.”

291. When he engaged in the aforementioned speech Dr. Mitnick was acting outside the

scope of his duties.

292. The adverse employment actions–including, but not limited to, effective teaching

overloads and diminished salaries–that Dr. Mitnick experienced constitute retaliatory actions that

were the result of the University’s attempt to retaliate against him for the exercise of his protected

right to free speech.

293. Dr. Mitnick seeks all remedies and damages permitted under 42 U.S.C. § 1983,

including back pay, damages for lost prospective future employment, damages for prospective harm

in his present position, compensatory damages for emotional pain and suffering, injunctive and

declaratory relief, and payment of his litigation costs, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, plus

pre-judgment and post-judgment interest.

COUNT XIII: VIOLATION OF THE PENNSYLVANIA WAGE PAYMENT AND
COLLECTION LAW

Plaintiff Barry Mitnick v. Defendant The University of Pittsburgh–of the Commonwealth
System of Higher Education

Violation of the Pennsylvania Wage Payment and Collection Law

294. The preceding paragraphs are incorporated as if set forth at length herein.

295. In order to state a claim for violation of the Pennsylvania Wage Payment and

Collection Law (“PaWPCL”), a plaintiff must have been employed by the defendant during the
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relevant time period, s/he was entitled to unpaid wages, and the defendant failed to timely and

unconditionally pay his/her wages.

296. Dr. Mitnick is currently employed by the University.

297. Per agreement, the University is to compensate Dr. Mitnick wages for each course

that he teaches.

298. Over the course of his career, Dr. Mitnick taught over sixty-five courses for which

he did not receive any compensation.

299. Dr. Mitnick has a contractual right to be compensated for teaching the aforementioned

sixty-five courses.

300. By failing to compensate him for the aforementioned sixty-five courses, the

University breached its underlying agreement with Dr. Mitnick.

301. The University’s breach constitutes a violation of the PaWPCL.

302. Dr. Mitnick seeks all damages available to him under the PaWPCL, including actual

damages, liquidated damages equal to 25% of his unpaid wages, relevant costs, and attorneys’ fees.

COUNT XIV: RETALIATION IN VIOLATION OF THE PENNSYLVANIA
WHISTLEBLOWER’S LAW

Plaintiff Barry Mitnick v. Defendant The University of Pittsburgh–of the Commonwealth
System of Higher Education

Violation of the Pennsylvania Whistleblower Law, 43 P.S. § 1421 et seq.

303. The preceding paragraphs are incorporated as if set forth at length herein.

304. As a state-related institution, Pitt receives funding from the Commonwealth of

Pennsylvania.

305. Any entity that receives funding the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania is an employer

subject to the terms of the Pennsylvania Whistleblower’s Law.
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306. Any violation of a code of ethics designed to protect the interests of the employer

and/or the public constitutes wrongdoing subject to the Pennsylvania Whistleblower’s Law.

307. Per the Pennsylvania Whistleblower’s Law, an employer may not retaliate, in terms

of pay or the terms and conditions of employment, against an employee who engages in a disclosure

of wrongdoing.

308. In a letter dated March 26, 2018, Dr. Mitnick disclosed to Dean Assad that there were

multiple misstatements in several maintenance of accreditation reports submitted by the Katz School

over time to the relevant accreditation body, the AACSB.

309. The aforementioned misstatements constitute a potential violation of ethical norms

applicable to business schools.

310. Dr. Mitnick’s disclosure of these misstatements to Dean Assad is an activity protected

by the Pennsylvania Whistleblower Law.

311. The adverse employment actions-including, but not limited to, effective teaching

overloads and diminished salaries and Dean Assad’s refusal to provide correction and compensation

constitute retaliatory actions by the University for Dr. Mitnick’s disclosure.

312. The University’s actions in this regard are contrary to the Pennsylvania Whistleblower

Law.

313. Dr. Mitnick seeks all appropriate remedies available under the Pennsylvania

Whistleblower’s Law, including liquidated damages and interest.
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COUNT XV: BREACH OF CONTACT
Plaintiff Barry Mitnick v. Defendant The University of Pittsburgh–of the Commonwealth

System of Higher Education
Violation of Pennsylvania Common Law

314. The preceding paragraphs are incorporated as if set forth at length herein.

315. In order to state a claim under Pennsylvania law for a breach of contract, a plaintiff

must prove (1) the existence of a contract, including its essential terms, (2) a breach of a duty

imposed by the contract, and (3) damages flowing from that breach.

316. Per his original letter of contract, Dr. Mitnick was hired to teach courses on business

and society/environmental influences on business, to do research, and to publish that scholarly

research in “well-regarded refereed research journals, books, and monographs.”

317. The aforementioned letter of contract indicated that he “would be expected to teach

approximately two courses per term.”

318. The core and elective courses referred to in the aforementioned letter were then three

credits each, so that this expectation was equivalent to eighteen credits per year; this corresponded

to two three-credit courses per academic term (at the time the Katz School operated on a calendar

consisting of three academic terms per year).

319. The aforementioned letter of contract does not state Dr. Mitnick’s teaching load as

a specific number of credits. 

320. Per the contract, Mr. Mitnick’s load would fall to twelve credits when the calendar

went from three to two terms, if courses remained at three credits, and potentially to a different

number of credits if the credits per course changed, but at any rate he would not be expected to teach

more than “approximately two courses per term,” regardless of their credit status.
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321. This contract between the University and Dr. Mitnick did not specify a time period

for performance and hence is a continuing contract.

322. Dr. Mitnick performed his duties under the contract by teaching business courses at

the Katz School and by publishing scholarly research.

323. Notwithstanding Dr. Mitnick’s performance, the University failed to appropriately

credit him for research completed and for additional courses beyond the “approximately two courses

per term”  that he taught and denied him any release due to him for this excess activity.

324. The failure to grant the release that he had earned led to Dr. Mitnick being assigned

what was tantamount to a teaching overload.

325. Per comments made by Dean Inman at his annual performance review on August 28,

2018, the University considers Dr. Mitnick’s teaching load to be eighteen credits, which under Dr.

Mitnick’s current nine month contract, which has two terms, would set the correct base teaching load

as four courses, or in estimated equivalent credits, twelve rather than eighteen credits.

326. Because it assigned him what was tantamount to a teaching overload, the University

breached its contract with Dr. Mitnick.

327. Dr. Mitnick suffered damages as a consequence of the aforementioned breach.

328. Dr. Mitnick seeks all appropriate remedies available under Pennsylvania law for

breach of contract, including liquidated damages and interest.

COUNT XVI: BREACH OF CONTACT
Plaintiff Barry Mitnick v. Defendant The University of Pittsburgh–of the Commonwealth

System of Higher Education
Violation of Pennsylvania Common Law

329. The preceding paragraphs are incorporated as if set forth at length herein.
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330. In order to state a claim under Pennsylvania law for a breach of contract, a plaintiff

must prove (1) the existence of a contract, including its essential terms, (2) a breach of a duty

imposed by the contract, and (3) damages flowing from that breach.

331. Under Pennsylvania law, employer policies and employee handbooks may give rise

to a contractual relationship between employers and employees.

332. The University’s internal policies and procedures set forth a set procedure regarding

faculty raises.

333. The University’s internal procedures further provide that faculty members be

protected from harassment.

334. By failing to provide a proper mechanism for adjusting his salary, both on an annual

basis and when Dr. Mitnick was renewed, promoted in rank, and tenured, and by failing to protect

him from harassment, the Katz School violated internal University procedures.

335. The failure of the Katz School administration to abide by University procedures

amounts to a breach of its contract with Dr. Mitnick.

336. Dr. Mitnick suffered damages as a consequence of the aforementioned breach.

337. Dr. Mitnick seeks all appropriate remedies available under Pennsylvania law for

breach of contract, including liquidated damages and interest.
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Respectfully Submitted,

LIEBER HAMMER HUBER & PAUL, P.C.

s/James B. Lieber                               
James B. Lieber
PA I.D. No. 21748
Thomas M. Huber
PA I.D. No. 83053
Jacob M. Simon
PA I.D. No. 202610
5528 Walnut Street
Pittsburgh, PA 15232
(412) 687-2231 (tel.)
(412) 687-3140 (fax)
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